RECEIVED

Apr 07 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough,
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001719

Henry Bailem, IV, Joseph Bailem, Sheila Bailem, Diane Jefferson,
Michael Jefferson, Sr., Rashica Coakley, and Ann Bailem Simmons,

Appellants,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXIST REGARDING THE ALLEGED PUBLIC DEDICATION?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENTS ESTABLISHED A VALID PUBLIC DEDICATION AS A MATTER OF LAW?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN APPLYING THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS TO BAR APPELLANTS' CLAIMS?
- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE DOCTRINE OF LACHES BARS APPELLANTS' CLAIMS?
- V. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING IMPLIED DEDICATION THROUGH DEED REFERENCES?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 23, 2023, Appellant Henry Bailem, IV filed a Summons and Complaint against Charleston County and the Town of Mount Pleasant seeking: (1) a declaratory judgment that John Ballam Road is private; (2) a claim for adverse possession; and (3) a claim for inverse condemnation. (R. pp. 0049-0057). By Consent Order filed January 26, 2024, the action was referred to the Master-in-Equity for Charleston County, with any appeal directly to this Court. (R. pp. 0032-0035). The Consent Order also granted the Plaintiff leave to amend the Complaint.

On June 6, 2024, the Appellants filed their Amended Complaint, adding more plaintiffs and defendants, including DRB Group South Carolina, LLC ("DRB"), a developer aiming to use John Ballam Road for access to a nearby development. (R. pp. 0058-0135). The Amended Complaint requested: (1) a declaratory judgment that the road is private; and (2) an action to quiet title in the road for the Appellants.

The County, Town, and DRB each filed Answers and Counterclaims (R. pp. 0136-0185). By Orders filed October 28, 2024 (R. pp. 0036-0038), and February 4, 2025 (R. pp. 0039-0048), the trial

court bifurcated the issue of whether the road is public or private from the remaining issues in the case.

On May 27, 2025, all three Respondents filed Motions for Summary Judgment on the bifurcated issue of whether the road is public or private (R. pp. 0252-1056). Appellants filed their Memorandum in Opposition on May 30, 2025. (R. pp. 1057-1111). A hearing was held on June 2, 2025. (R. pp. 1141-1224).

On July 8, 2025, the trial court entered its Order Granting Summary Judgment, finding: (1) the statute of limitations barred Appellants' claims; (2) the doctrine of laches barred Appellants' claims; and (3) John Ballam Road was validly dedicated and accepted as a public road. (R. pp. 0003-0028).

On July 18, 2025, Appellants timely filed their Motion to Reconsider and Alter or Amend Judgment Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP. (R. pp. 1112-1138). The Motion argued that: (1) genuine issues of material fact exist regarding signature authenticity and dedication validity; (2) Respondents failed to meet their burden of proving public dedication; (3) the trial court failed to adequately address contradictory evidence; and (4) the trial court applied the statute of limitations and laches without considering the County's contradictory conduct.

On August 1, 2025, the trial court entered its Order Denying the Motion to Reconsider, stating: "As the Court finds no issue overlooked, misunderstood, or not considered, the Court respectfully DENIES Plaintiff's Rule 59(e) Motion to Reconsider." (R. pp. 0029-0031)

The Appellants filed and served their notice of appeal on August 28, 2025. (R. pp. 1139-1140).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case concerns a fundamental question of property rights: whether a surveyor's unauthorized insertion of dedication language on a subdivision plat can strip private landowners of their property without their knowledge or consent. The Bailem family has owned and exclusively used the land where John Ballam Road is located for over 100 years. In 1986, the three living heirs hired a

surveyor to subdivide family land for distribution to their children. Without authorization, explanation, or the family's knowledge, the surveyor added language purporting to dedicate their private road to public use.

When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, this Court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to Appellants as the non-moving parties. *Isaac v. Onions*, 445 S.C. 525, 533, 915 S.E.2d 492, 496 (2025). The following facts, viewed in that light, establish multiple genuine issues of material fact that preclude summary judgment.

A. The Bailem Family's Longstanding Ownership

The Bailem (formerly Ballam) family has owned the property encompassing John Ballam Road for generations, with the land being in the family since the 1800s. (R. p. 0063). This was family land, passed down through the years, without a formal road providing access to the family homesites. (Id.).

The land originally came into the family through Flora Ballam, a former slave of the Boone Hall Plantation, and John Ballam, also known as Sandy Ballam. (R. p. 0063). The Bailem family has taken great pride in owning this land for approximately 150 years. (Id.). In 1986, the heirs of John Ballam's estate—Henry Bailem, Jr., Rebecca Jefferson, and Estelle Capers—owned the property as tenants in common. (R. pp. 0060-0061, 0064).

All Appellants have resided on this land for decades: Henry Bailem IV has lived at 1420 Six Mile Road for 68 years; Joseph and Sheila Bailem have lived at 2236 John Ballam Road for 68 and 41 years, respectively; Michael and Diane Jefferson have lived at 2242 John Ballam Road for 64 and 39 years, respectively; Florence Coakley resided at 1425 Brentley Road for 85 years until her passing in 2021; and Ann Bailem Simmons has lived at 1430 Brentley Road for 75 years. (R. pp. 0063-0064).

B. The 1986 Subdivision Was Intended to Create Family Parcels Accessed by a Private Road

In 1986, the three living family owners decided to formally subdivide their property to create individual lots for other family members. This was not a commercial development or public

subdivision—it was simply a family dividing their land among themselves. (R. p. 0064); (R. pp. 0086-0089)

The family hired James G. Pennington, a surveyor, to perform what they believed was a simple task of surveying the property and drawing lot lines. (R. p. 0064); (R. p. 0087); (R. p. 0064); (R. p. 0614, lines 10-15); (R. p. 0369). Originally, Pennington was hired to create a plat showing four lots and a private access road dedicated to the owners of those lots. (R. p. 0369).

On July 23, 1986, Pennington drafted a plat that included dedication language with the words "dedicate the... ingress-egress easement over my property to the use of the property owners..." above the signature lines. (R. p. 0369); (R. pp. 0110-0111). This plat was the one presented to the owners for approval and signature. (R. p. 1082). The three owners of the lots signed that plat. (R. p. 0405).

The family's clear goal was to create private lots for family members with access through an existing unimproved private road. The Bailem family only aimed to subdivide the John Ballam Estate's land, ensuring the area where the road would later be built remained part of their private property. This intent was explicitly communicated to surveyor Pennington. (R. pp. 0064-0065); (R. pp. 0086-0107). Nothing in the family's discussions with Pennington indicated any intention to dedicate property for public use. (R. pp. 0369-0370); (R. p. 0624).

Although no original signed copy of the earlier four-parcel plat with the appropriate private dedication can be located, a marked-up copy of that plat, provided by Pennington to Diane Jefferson, shows a faint signature, indicating the owners' intention to grant access only to property owners. (R. p. 1082).

C. The Recorded Plat Contained Unauthorized Dedication Language and Questionable Signatures

Later, Diane Jefferson discussed with Pennington the addition of a fifth lot, which required creating another plat. (R. pp. 0369-0370). Pennington apparently copied the four-lot plat signed by the owners, which included the private road dedication, to show the creation of the new lot. (R. p. 1082).

Pennington gave the marked-up copy to Diane Jefferson but did not show her the subsequent five-lot parcel before it was finalized and submitted for subdivision plat approval and filing. (R. p. 0370). For reasons unexplained in the record, Pennington or his draftsman, without notice to or authorization from Diane Jefferson or any other family member, substituted public dedication language on the five-lot parcel. Pennington's testimony provides no clarity on this matter, as he does not recall performing this work and has stated that he did not draft the plats he signed; an undisclosed draftsman created the plats. (R. p. 0614)

Without the family's knowledge or consent, someone—presumably Pennington's unknown draftsman—inserted dedication language on a different version of the plat stating: "We hereby dedicate this 50' road right-of-way for the use of the public forever." (R. p. 0064); (R. pp. 0112-0128). This plat, with the erroneous and unauthorized public dedication, was submitted with the August 11, 1986 subdivision application, contrary to the Bailem family's intent and without their knowledge. (R. p. 0065).

This dedication language: (1) was never discussed with the family (R. p. 0371); (2) was never authorized by the family (R. p. 0410); and (3) was contrary to the family's intent to maintain private property (R. pp. 0065, 0070). Compounding this error, the signatures on the recorded plat raise serious questions of authenticity. This is clearly demonstrated by comparing the signatures of the three individuals on the deeds that conveyed the parcels to Appellants with the signatures on the five-lot parcel. (R. p. 1082).

Most notably, Rebecca Bailem Jefferson was blind and did not sign her name, instead making a mark "X" to indicate her signature, as shown on the deeds. Surprisingly, she was able to sign her first and last name on the recorded five-lot plat, even though she only made an "X" on the deeds, which were supposedly signed at the same time. (R. pp. 0408-0409). Additionally, Estelle Bailem Capers consistently included her middle name when signing official documents, as shown on the

deeds, but not on the five-parcel plat. (R. pp. 0408-0409). Finally, Henry Bailem IV testified that he recognized his father's signature, and the signature on the plat is not his father's. (R. pp. 0408-0409).

Despite these serious irregularities, the five-lot parcel plat bearing an unauthorized and incorrect public dedication without proper signatures and without witnesses was submitted to the County for filing, and the plat was recorded on October 24, 1986, in the real property records of Charleston County. (R. p. 1082). Appellants were unaware of the filing of the erroneous plat until years later, when the ownership of the road was disputed. (R. pp. 0067-0068).

D. County Records Demonstrate the Family's Intent for Private Dedication

Critically, the Charleston County Planning Staff and Public Works recommended in their September 29, 1986, agenda that the application be approved "with the granting of a variance from Section III E-12 which will allow the creation of four lots that do not front on a state or county maintained road, and with the dedication of a 20' wide drainage easement as shown on the plat. This plat represents a division of estate property and a 50' right-of-way will be dedicated to the property owners." (R. p. 0065) (emphasis added).

On October 10, 1986, the surveyor received a letter outlining the outcome of the Charleston County Council meeting held on October 7, 1986. This letter reaffirms the dedication of the 50' right-of-way to the property owners. (R. p. 0065); (R. pp. 0112-0126)

Pennington's deposition testimony confirms this discrepancy:

Q: What did County Council approve to be recorded as the dedication?

A: Well, according to this letter, they approved the 20-foot-wide drain ditch shown on the plat.

Q: What's the last sentence of the first paragraph say?

A: "Will be dedicated to the property owners."

Q: What will be?

A: The right-of-way. The 50-foot right-of-way.

Q: Okay. So where is that plat that represents that?

A: It's this plat.

Q: Which plat?

A: Exhibit 7.

Q: Is that what the dedication says?

A: No.

Q: So you recorded a plat that was not approved by County Council?

A: Apparently so.

(R. pp. 0628-0629)

Despite these official records indicating that the road was to be dedicated to property owners, the incorrect plat was mistakenly recorded on October 24, 1986. (R. p. 0066)

E. The County Subsequently Treated the Road as Private

Even after recording the plat in 1986, Charleston County still considered the access road, now called John Ballam Road, to be a private road.

In August 1993, the County explicitly rejected John Ballam Road from its maintenance system, confirming it did not "meet Charleston County standards for an earth road and cannot be accepted into the County maintenance system" and stating that if construction continued without meeting requirements, "the County will consider this road to be a private road for the use of the property owners and their heirs." (R. p. 0066); (R. pp. 0129-0131)

Later, the "Jurisdiction Information" document related to John Ballam Road showed that the maintenance jurisdiction was "Private" until it was crossed out and mistakenly replaced with "Public" after the road and surrounding property were annexed into Mt. Pleasant. (R. pp. 0132-0135)

The County's own 30(b)(6) witness, Wesley Linkler, testified that:

- "Prior to 1996... the maintenance responsibility was assumed to be private" (R. p. 0311);
- The County would not maintain roads "until it's been constructed to a county standard" (R. p. 0311);
- In 1993, the County told property owners: "the county will consider this road to be a private road for the use of the property owners and their heirs" (R. p. 0312).

F. Appellants Maintained the Road as Private and Received Consistent Government

Representations Confirming Private Status

Since the October 24, 1986, plat was recorded, the Appellants and their families have maintained John Ballam Road without any contribution from the Respondents, except for paving, which the Appellants testified they did not request and were unaware was happening until it was completed. (R. p. 0066); (R. pp. 0086-0089).

Appellants and their families have never received postal delivery or school bus service on the road, with only one exception for a child suffering from sickle cell anemia. They only began receiving waste disposal services after annexation into Mount Pleasant on April 11, 1995. (R. p. 0067); (R. p. 0089).

Most critically, governmental officials repeatedly told Appellants the road was private:

Henry Bailem's testimony:

- In the 1990s, County officials told him "it's a private road" and "you don't have to worry about it. It's a private road. It's in the book as a private road." (R. p. 0411).
- As late as 2017, the Town of Mount Pleasant refused a developer access to John Ballam Road, telling him "he didn't have access to John Ballam Road" because it was "a private road." (R. pp. 0412-0413);

Diane Jefferson's testimony:

- County employee "John" initially argued the road was public, but after checking records with a colleague, "came back, and said, 'You're correct'" that John Ballam Road was private. (R. pp. 0370, 372-373).
- She was told the road was "a private road dedicated to the property owners" and given official documents to that effect. (Id.).
- Multiple meetings with government officials where "County and Town of Mount Pleasant officials say the road is a private road. We made a mistake." (Id.).

For decades after 1986, the Bailem family continued to use John Ballam Road as their private access, maintaining exclusive control. Only when developer DRB purchased adjacent property and sought to use "their" road did the Appellants investigate and discover the unauthorized dedication language. (R. pp. 0067-0068).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the grant of summary judgment de novo, applying the same standard as the trial court. *Isaac*, 445 S.C. at 532, 915 S.E.2d at 496. Summary judgment is appropriate only when "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRCP.

"In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." *Isaac*, 445 S.C. at 533, 915 S.E.2d at 496. "To survive summary judgment, "it is not sufficient for a party to create an inference that is not reasonable or an issue of fact that is not genuine." *Id.*

However, "[w]hen opposing a summary judgment motion, the nonmoving party must do more than 'simply show that there is a metaphysical doubt as to the material facts but must come forward with specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.'" *Dunes W. Golf Club, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 401 S.C. 280, 293, 737 S.E.2d 601, 608 (2013).

"Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law." *Middleborough Horizontal Prop. Regime Council of Co.-Owners v. Montedison S.p.A.*, 320 S.C. 470, 479, 465 S.E.2d 765, 771 (Ct. App. 1995). "Summary judgment should be granted only where it is perfectly clear that no issue of fact is involved and inquiry into the facts is not desirable. This is true even when there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts if there is dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn therefrom." *MacFarlane v. Manly*, 274 S.C. 392, 395, 264 S.E.2d 838, 840 (1980).

The Court's review of a Rule 59(e) motion is also conducted de novo. *Elam v. S.C. DOT*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004). A Rule 59(e) motion offers "one final chance not only to call the court's

attention to a possible misapprehension of an earlier argument, but also to revisit a previously raised argument." *Id.* at 21-22, 602 S.E.2d at 778-79.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXIST REGARDING THE ALLEGED PUBLIC DEDICATION.

A. The Summary Judgment Standard Requires Viewing All Evidence and Reasonable Inferences in the Light Most Favorable to Appellants.

The trial court's Order fundamentally fails to apply the correct summary judgment standard. When reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the court must view all evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party—here, Appellants. *Isaacs*, 445 S.C. at 533, 915 S.E.2d at 496.

The trial court's order repeatedly fails to do so. Instead of viewing the evidence favorably to Appellants, the order:

- Dismisses testimony regarding signature irregularities without proper consideration;
- Ignores the County's contradictory contemporaneous records;
- Fails to acknowledge extensive testimony about the family's true intent;
- Incorrectly weighs credibility and resolves factual disputes in favor of Respondents;
- Ignores evidence of the County's decades-long claims that the road was private.

These failures require reversal. "Summary judgment should be granted only where it is perfectly clear that no issue of fact is involved and inquiry into the facts is not desirable. This is true even when there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts if there is a dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn therefrom." *MacFarlane v. Manly*, 274 S.C. at 395, 264 S.E.2d at 840 (1980). Here, even if certain evidentiary facts are undisputed, multiple genuine disputes exist as to the conclusions to be drawn—disputes that must be resolved by the factfinder at trial, not by the court on summary judgment.

B. Substantial Evidence Raises Genuine Issues Regarding the Authenticity of the Signatures on the 1986 Plat

Appellants presented specific, detailed testimony challenging the authenticity of all three signatures on the recorded 1986 plat. This evidence, which must be viewed in the light most favorable to Appellants, raises genuine issues of material fact that preclude summary judgment.

1. Rebecca Jefferson Was Blind and Could Not Have Signed Her Name.

The most compelling evidence of signature irregularities concerns Rebecca Jefferson. The undisputed deposition testimony establishes that Rebecca Jefferson was "permanently blind" before 1985 due to diabetes. (R. p. 0416). Yet the 1986 plat purports to bear her full signature—"Rebecca Jefferson."

This is directly contradicted by Rebecca Jefferson's signature on deeds executed at or near the same time. When she executed a deed in 1988 (just two years after the plat), she properly signed with an "X" accompanied by the notation "This is my mark." (R. p. 1083). This is the legally recognized method for a blind person to execute documents.

The trial court dismissed this evidence, stating that "it is blackletter law that blind individuals are capable of signing written instruments." (R. p. 0019). But this misses the point entirely. The issue is not whether blind people can sign documents—of course, they can. The issue is that Rebecca Jefferson consistently signed documents with an "X" because she was blind, yet the 1986 plat shows a full signature.

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