RECEIVED

Apr 03 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Master-In-Equity

The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity for Charleston County

Appellate Case No. 2025-001719

Henry Bailem, IV, Joseph Bailem, Sheila Bailem, Diane Jefferson, Michael Jefferson, Sr., Rashica Coakley, and Ann Bailem Simmons,..... Appellants,

v.

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

¹ Appellants did not appeal the lower court’s dismissal of their claims for adverse possession, inverse condemnation, and trespass against Respondent County of Charleston.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

John Ballam Road is a fifty (50) foot public right of way located within the jurisdiction of the Town of Mount Pleasant. John Ballam Road has existed as a platted right of way dedicated to the public since 1986. In 1995, the Town annexed John Ballam Road along with several adjacent parcels into its municipal boundary. Following annexation, John Ballam Road was constructed by the County from an earthen path to a rock road. John Ballam Road was subsequently paved in 2002 becoming an asphalt road, maintained by the Town, which is the current state of John Ballam Road today. All of the construction and improvements to John Ballam Road were financed with the expenditure of public funds from the Charleston County Transportation Committee “C” Funds.

I. The 1986 Plat and Public Dedication of John Ballam Road.

On October 24, 1986, a subdivision plat (the “Plat”) showing the lands of John Ballam Estate was recorded with the Charleston County Register of Deeds in Plat Book BK, Page 135. (R. pp. 275 and 277)

Prior to its recordation, on October 7, 1986, the Plat was approved by Charleston County Council and the Charleston County Planning Board, stamped an “Approved Final Plat,” and signed by Charleston County’s Clerk of Council and Director of Planning. (*Id.*) The Plat was prepared, signed, and stamped by James G. Pennington, RLS. (*Id.*)

The Plat created five (5) lots from the lands of the John Ballam Estate, dedicated a twenty (20) foot drainage easement along the eastern-most boundary of lot 1 “to the use of the public forever,” and dedicated a fifty (50) foot right of way entitled John Ballam Road along the southern-most boundary of the properties “for the use of the public forever.” (*Id.*) As required for recording, the owners of the property—Henry Ballam, Jr., Rebecca Jefferson, and Estelle Capers²—signed

² Hereinafter, collectively referred to as the “Heirs of John Ballam.”

the Plat. (*Id.*) For nearly forty (40) years, the Plat has remained, undisturbed, as the only recorded plat for the Appellants' properties and John Ballam Road.

Following the Plat's recordation in October 1986, the Charleston County Assessor's Office separated the publicly dedicated fifty (50) foot right of way from the created lots, assigned tax map numbers for the lots, but not the right of way, and no longer assessed *ad valorem* taxes on the right of way. (R. pp. 1228–32) Because the Heirs of John Ballam dedicated John Ballam Road as a fifty (50) foot right of way “for the use of the public forever,” they no longer owed *ad valorem* taxes on the right of way. (*See id.*) This change was reflected in the County's tax maps. (*See id.*)

In the two years following recordation of the Plat, the Heirs of John Ballam conveyed the five (5) lots they created to various Bailem family members and their spouses, most of whom are appellants in this action. (R. pp. 279–98)³ Importantly, the deeds from the Heirs of John Ballam reference and convey each lot through, and subject to, the Plat. (*See id.*) The deeds further describe each lot as “BUTTING AND BOUNDING” on John Ballam Road, so as not to include the publicly dedicated right of way. (*Id.*)

II. The County's Acceptance and Construction of John Ballam Road.

On August 16, 1994, Charleston County Council (“County Council”) accepted John Ballam Road (the “Road”) into the County's road system and approved the Road for construction (the “Council Action”). (R. pp. 300–01) On April 11, 1995, Mount Pleasant Town Council annexed the Road into the Town through Ordinance No. 95005. At this point, the County began surveying the Road in anticipation of coming improvements. (R. p. 311, 35:6-16; *see also*, R. p. 314, 45:13-17) On March 11, 1996, at a meeting of the Charleston County Transportation

³ Henry Bailem, IV was conveyed lot 5 by deed on January 26, 1988. Joseph and Sheila Bailem were conveyed lot 4 by deed on January 26, 1988. Michael Jefferson, Sr. and Diane Jefferson were conveyed lot 3 by deed on January 26, 1988. Florence and Robert Coakley were conveyed lot 2 by deed on January 26, 1988. Abraham and Ann Bailem Simmons were conveyed lot 1 by deed on December 21, 1987.

Committee (the “CTC”), “C” Funds were appropriated for construction of the Road. (R. pp. 333–35)

Upon acceptance and approval for its construction, the County began preliminary engineering design and construction planning for the Road. (R. p. 318, 61:1-4) The engineering plans called for the Road to be constructed to County standard, which took the Road from its previous state as an earthen path to a rock road with necessary drainage improvements. Several issues arose during the preliminary planning and design work for the Road, to include the removal of an active well within the right of way and reconstruction of the adjoining roadside ditch. Appellants Henry Bailem, IV and Diane Jefferson were directly involved in the County’s efforts to address these issues. (R. p. 421, 75:1-15; *see also* R. p. 387, 79:17-23) Using “C” Funds, the County initially improved the Road with rock in 1998 and further improved the Road by asphalt paving in 2002. The Road remains an asphalt road within the jurisdiction and maintenance of the Town to this day. (R. p. 315, 50:12-18)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal from a grant of summary judgment, this Court “applies the same standard as that required for the circuit court under rule 56(c), *SCRCP*.” *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 379, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000). Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *See* Rule 56(c), *SCRCP*; *see also Osborne v. Adams*, 346 S.C. 4, 7, 550 S.E.2d 319, 321 (2001). The party seeking summary judgment bears the initial burden of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact for trial. Rule 56 mandates the entry of summary judgment after adequate time for discovery against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to the party’s case and on which that party will bear the burden

of proof at trial. See *Carolina Alliance for Fair Employment v. S.C. Dept. of Labor, Licensing, & Regulation*, 337 S.C. 476, 485, 523 S.E.2d 795, 800 (Ct. App. 1999). A “genuine issue as to [a] material fact” is not satisfied by a “mere scintilla of evidence.” *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 892 S.E.2d 297 (2023). Instead, a genuine issue of fact provides “a meaningful factual basis on which a factfinder could” find for the nonmoving party. *Id.* at 464, 892 S.E.2d. at 302.

ARGUMENT⁴

I. BECAUSE THIS IS AN ACTION TO RECOVER REAL PROPERTY, THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY APPLIED THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-3-340.

The lower court properly granted summary judgment because Appellants’ action is barred by the ten-year statute of limitations under South Carolina Code Ann. § 15-3-340.

South Carolina Code Ann. § 15-3-340 states:

No action for the recovery of real property or for the recovery of the possession of real property may be maintained unless it appears that the plaintiff, his ancestor, predecessor, or grantor, was seized or possessed of the premises in question within ten years before the commencement of the action.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-340. The “purpose of a statute of limitations is to relieve the courts of the burden of trying stale claims when a plaintiff has slept on his rights.” *Logan v. Cherokee Landscaping & Grading Co.*, 389 S.C. 611, 618, 698 S.E.2d 879, 883 (Ct. App. 2010) (internal quotations omitted). “Another purpose of the statute of limitations is to protect potential defendants from protracted fear of litigation.” *Id.* “Statutes of limitations are not simply technicalities.” *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 526, 787 S.E.2d 485, 490 (2016). “On

⁴ Respondent would also incorporate by refence and adopt any arguments made by the Town of Mount Pleasant and DRB Group South Carolina, LLC in their respective briefs.

the contrary, they have long been respected as fundamental to a well-ordered judicial system. Statutes of limitations embody important public policy concerns as they stimulate activity, punish negligence, and promote repose by giving security and stability to human affairs.” *Id.* (internal quotations and citations omitted). “Statutes of limitations are, indeed, fundamental to our judicial system.” *Id.*

Here, Appellants filed their original complaint against the County on February 23, 2023; therefore, the latest date upon which they must have been “seized or possessed” of the Road was February 23, 2013. However, as correctly recognized by the lower court, neither Appellants, their predecessors in title, nor their ancestors have been seized or possessed of the Road long before February 23, 2013.

The Heirs of John Ballam dedicated the Road to the use of the public forever by way of the Plat. The Plat is dated July 23, 1986, and recorded October 24, 1986, in the Register of Deeds Office for Charleston County. (R. p. 275) It has been twenty-nine years since Charleston County Council formally accepted the dedication of the Road on August 16, 1994 until the filing of this action. (R. pp. 300–01) It has been twenty-eight years since the Town annexed the Road in 1995. Those periods of time, any one of which could serve as a start to Appellants’ ten-year statute of limitations, passed without any claims by Appellants that the Road is not a public road.

Nevertheless, most problematic to Appellants’ claims is the fact that they failed to bring any legal action to recover the real property or assert ownership of the Road following the expenditure of public “C” Funds for its improvement and paving from 1998 to 2002. Counsel for Appellants concedes that in 2002 “when [the County] paved the road, [Appellants] had a pretty good idea that there was a problem with the County.” (R. p. 1184, lines 8–23) At the very latest,

because Appellants knew in 2002 “that there was a problem with the County,” the ten-year statute of limitations would have run in 2012, eleven (11) years prior to the filing of this action.

Appellants argue that the lower court erred in applying the ten-year statute of limitations because their claims are not to recover real property, but rather to establish ownership. Appellants go on to suggest that they have never been, and are not currently, seized or possessed of the Road. However, “possession is presumed to follow the legal title to land.” *Butler v. Lindsey*, 293 S.C. 466, 470, 361 S.E.2d 621, 623 (Ct. App. 1987). Appellants were never seized and possessed of the Road by virtue of the deeds they received from the Heirs of John Ballam in 1987 and 1988, each of which confirm that the lots conveyed are “BUTTING AND BOUNDING,” not inclusive of, the Road. (R. pp. 279–98) A plain reading of the deeds shows that the Appellants do not in fact have title to the Road and never had title.

Even if this Court is inclined to believe Appellants have a claim to title to the Road, neither Appellants, their predecessors in title, nor their ancestors have been seized or possessed of the Road for a period well over ten years. At the earliest, the predecessors in title to Appellants were seized and possessed of the Road beginning in 1986 when Henry Bailem, Rebecca Jefferson, and Estelle Capers dedicated the Road to the public. At the latest, Appellants were seized and possessed of the Road in 2002 when Appellants self-admittedly knew “that there was a problem with the County” following the paving of the Road with public “C” funds by the County. (R. p. 1184, lines 8–23)

Therefore, the lower court properly granted summary judgment pursuant to the statute of limitations under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-340.⁵

⁵ In the alternative, Appellants are barred by the three (3) year statute of limitations for fraud pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530. Appellants contend that the dedication was fraudulent and the Plat was erroneously recorded. (R. p. 65) To the extent Appellants allege fraud in the creation of the Plat, they have a heightened burden. The Supreme Court held that fraud is never presumed and the party asserting fraud has the very heavy burden of proof of such claim

II. BECAUSE APPELLANTS UNREASONABLY DELAYED ASSERTING RIGHTS IN THIS MATTER TO THE DETRIMENT OF RESPONDENT COUNTY OF CHARLESTON, THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY APPLIED THE DOCTRINE OF LACHES.

In addition to the statute of limitations *supra* § I, the lower court properly granted summary judgment pursuant to the doctrine of laches. This Court should concur with the rationale of the lower court, which mirrors the South Carolina Supreme Court’s decision upholding summary judgment in *Robinson v. Estate of Harris*, 388 S.C. 645, 698 S.E.2d 229 (2010), applying the doctrine of laches to dismiss this action.

“Laches is an equitable doctrine defined as neglect for an unreasonable and unexplained length of time, under the circumstances affording opportunity for diligence, to do what in law should have been done.” *Strickland v. Strickland*, 375 S.C. 76, 83, 650 S.E.2d 465, 469 (2007). “In order to establish laches as a defense, a defendant must show that the complaining party unreasonably delayed in its assertion of a right, resulting in prejudice to the defendant.” *Id.* “Laches is an equitable doctrine which arises upon the failure to assert a known right.” *Id.* at 85, 650 S.E.2d at 670. “Under the doctrine of laches, if a party, knowing his rights does not seasonably assert them, but by unreasonable delay causes his adversary to incur expenses or enter into obligations or otherwise detrimentally change his position, then equity will ordinarily refuse to enforce those

by clear, cogent and convincing evidence. See *Watson v. Wall*, 239 S.C. 109, 113, 121 S.E.2d 427, 429 (1961). When making this claim regarding plats and deeds, parties are nonetheless “charged with constructive notice of instruments recorded in their chain of title.” *Binkley v. Rabon Creek Watershed Conservation Dist.*, 348 S.C. 58, 71 558 S.E.2d 902, 909 (Ct. App. 2001). As required by *Watson*, Appellants have the burden of proving fraud by clear, cogent and convincing evidence. Despite that, the evidence offered is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of fact, much less to establish fraud or error. Additionally, the statute of limitations for fraud is three (3) years, and as such, Appellants’ claims on the basis of fraud are time barred. See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530; see also, *McKinnon v. Summers*, 224 S.C. 331, 79 S.E.2d 146 (1953). Therefore, aside from the ten-year statute of limitations under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-340, the lower court was also correct in granting summary judgment based upon the three-year statute of limitations under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530.

rights.” *Emery v. Smith*, 361 S.C. 207, 215, 603 S.E.2d 598, 602 (2004). “The party seeking to establish laches must show (1) delay, (2) unreasonable delay, and (3) prejudice.” *Id.*

In *Robinson v. Estate of Harris*, 388 S.C. 645, 698 S.E.2d 229 (2010), the Supreme Court found the claims of petitioner Robinson were barred by laches and upheld the trial court’s grant of summary judgment on that basis. In that case, petitioner heirs brought a quiet title action claiming that deeds and a previous quiet title action were procured by fraud. *See id.* The deeds in question were from 1946, and the quiet title action resolved in 1966; however, in 2005, petitioner heirs challenged the validity of those deeds and the quiet title action for the first time. *See id.* The Court held that the petitioners’ claims were barred by the doctrine of laches, reasoning that the appellants waited thirty-nine years to challenge the prior quiet title action, and that while appellants claimed not to have knowledge of that action, their own affidavits discounted that claim. *Id.* at 657, 698 S.E.2d at 236. The Court further relied on the fact that the documents granting title to the defendants (deeds and the quiet title action) were “publicly-recorded and documented,” thus “it was an unreasonable length of time for Petitioners to delay in instituting” the action. *Id.* The Court went on to state that “Respondent would be undoubtedly prejudiced if Petitioner’s claim is not barred by laches given she purchased her lot for significant consideration and has been in possession of it since 2001.” *Id.*

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